FILED SID J. WHITE MAY 17 1993

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 81,602

THE PRINTING HOUSE, INC.,

Respondent.

#### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

\_\_\_\_\_\_

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

LISA M. RALEIGH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 858498

LEALAND L. MCCHAREN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 400343

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL-TAX SECTION TALLAHASSEE, FL. 32399-1050 (904) 487-2142

# QUESTION PRESENTED

The First District Court of Appeal has certified, as a question of great public importance, the following question:

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This appeal arises from a First District Court of Appeal decision reversing a Circuit Court Order that struck Respondent's, The Printing House, Inc.'s, (The Printing House) demand for a jury trial. The Printing House filed its Complaint on January 29, 1992, to challenge three separate Notices of Proposed Assessment of Tax, Penalty and Interest. (See Complaint attached as Appendix 1). The action was brought under Chapter 72, Florida Statutes to challenge the proposed assessments. Basically, the Printing House alleged that in two earlier audits, the Florida Department of Revenue (The Department) failed to assess use tax on certain purchases and should be estopped from assessing tax during the audit period at issue. Id. The Printing House requested a jury trial, the Department moved to strike the request, the matter was briefed to the Circuit Court by memoranda of law, and the demand for jury trial duly struck by Order of the Court dated July 7, 1992. (Attached as Appendix 2) The Printing House petitioned the First District Court of Appeal for a writ of mandamus reversing the Circuit Court's decision. The First District granted the petition, but certified the taxpayer's right to a jury trial question to the Florida Supreme Court.

### THE NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT

The Department respectfully requests an opinion from the Court reversing the First District Court's opinion and reinstating the Circuit Court Order striking the demand for jury trial on the basis that there is neither a statutory nor constitutional right to a jury trial in tax cases in Florida.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has held that the Florida Constitution maintains the right to a jury trial in civil matters only where permitted either by statute or at common law at the time Florida's first Constitution became effective. There is no statute providing for jury trials in tax cases in Florida, as such cases are heard in equity. At the time the first Florida Constitution became effective in 1845, tax assessment protest and refund cases were heard and decided by County Court judges sitting in special session and acting as an administrative body. This non-jury method was common in other states to ensure expeditious imposition and collection of taxes. Jury trials were not available in Florida for tax matters at the time the first Florida Constitution became effective and so the right to jury trial does not carry forward under Article I, Section 22 of the present Florida Constitution.

The First District Court of Appeal erred in its decision that Florida taxpayers in excise tax cases are entitled to jury trials. The First District Court of Appeal did not follow the law of this Court to determine the constitutional right to a jury trial in Florida. First, the First District correctly stated that under no legal theory are tax assessments entitled to a jury trial. However, the First District departed from the law in finding that the security requirements of § 72.011, Florida

Statutes put this tax assessment case "in the posture of a refund" and in finding a jury trial right under the Seventh Amendment.

At common law in Florida, both assessment protests and refunds were identical procedurally and did not receive jury trials. The First District's assertion that the case at bar is a refund action is thus irrelevant to the analysis of this case. In finding a refund akin to an assessment, the First District improperly reached an interpretation of "the nature of the proceeding", when tax proceedings virtually identical to those used today were in use in 1845 and did not receive a jury trial. The First District has attempted to broaden the scope of jury trials rights beyond that contemplated by the drafters of the Florida Constitution.

The First District Court erred in relying on the federal case of <u>United States v. New Mexico</u>, 642 F.2d 397 (10th Cir. 1981) in finding a common law right to a jury trial. The First District erroneously found <u>New Mexico</u> persuasive because the Seventh Amendment does not apply to the States. The Florida standard is to look to English common law as of 1776 <u>and</u> statutes and cases in Florida between 1776 and the date Florida's first constitution became effective. The Seventh Amendment analysis looks solely to English common law of 1791 and ignores state common law evolution.

The First District Court erred in declining to follow the Third District Court of Appeal's decision finding no right to a jury trial in a tax case. Robbins v. Section 3 Property Corp.,

609 So.2d 670 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992). The Third District correctly found that tax cases have traditionally been heard in equity. The First District erred in finding <u>Robbins</u> distinguishable as an ad valorem tax case as opposed to an excise tax case. At the time Florida's first Constitution became effective, both ad valorem and excise taxes were known in Florida, and were contested identically, without a jury.

There is no Florida statute granting a right to a jury trial in an action brought under Chapter 72. The Florida statutes and the common law at the time Florida's first Constitution became effective permitted tax contests, but without a jury. As tax cases were heard in equity at common law it would be error to grant a request for a jury trial. There are Florida cases dating to 1837 showing tax contests heard in equity. There are no recorded Florida tax cases heard by a jury. This court should reverse the First District Court of Appeal, approve the Third District Court of Appeal, and affirm the Circuit Court's striking of the Appellant's demand for a jury trial.

#### ARGUMENT

#### A. GENERAL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY UNDER THE

#### FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

Analysis of the question presented requires that this Court determine whether a right to a trial by a jury of one's peers existed at the time Florida's first Constitution became effective. <u>In re Forfeiture of 1978 Chevrolet Van</u>, 493 So. 2d 433 (Fla. 1986). The determination requires an answer to the

following questions: 1) was there a common law cause of action in Florida forming the basis for a tax assessment challenge as of 1845; and 2) if so, did the cause of action provide for a jury trial. Only if the cause of action was unknown at common law is it necessary to look to the nature of the proceeding to determine if there was a jury trial right at common law.

In this case, there were common law causes of action for tax assessments and refunds of both ad valorem and excise taxes in Florida at the time Florida's first constitution became effective. Neither assessment protests nor tax refund actions received a jury trial, as such actions were heard in equity. The First District Court erred in not looking to Florida's common law in making its determination as to a taxpayer's right to a jury trial.

The <u>constitutional</u> right to a jury trial does not extend beyond those cases in which it was a matter of right in 1845. <u>Pugh v. Bowden</u>, 54 Fla. 302, 45 So. 499 (1907). This Court has not extended the right to jury trials to matters where a jury was not used in Florida in 1845. For example, there is no right to a trial by jury in matters of probate, in juvenile proceedings, in partition, nor in inverse condemnation cases. <u>Lavey v. Doig</u>, 25 Fla. 611, 6 So. 259 (1889); <u>Pugh v. Bowden</u>, 54 Fla. 302, 45 So. 499 (1907); <u>Camp Phosphate Co. v. Anderson</u>, 48 Fla. 226, 37 So. 722 (1904); <u>Dept. of Agriculture and Consumer Services v.</u> <u>Bonanno</u>, 568 So. 2d 24 (Fla. 1990). The Court should follow these cases and not expand the right to a jury trial beyond that known at Florida common law.

In a recent case, this Court reiterated that it is Florida common law that controls in determining the right to a jury trial. <u>B.J.Y. v. M.A.</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly 265 (April 29, 1993). This Court wrote that the right to a jury trial, "turns on whether such a right existed by statute or under the common law in effect . . . at the time the Constitution of Florida was adopted." <u>Id</u>. After a review of the Florida common law in the area, this Court declined to follow decisions in other states. This analysis is crucial to this case, as it is clear that jury trials were <u>not</u> available at common law in Florida in tax matters.

## B. HISTORY OF FLORIDA TAX PROCEDURES

# 1. <u>Florida's Treatment Of Tax Cases When</u> <u>Florida's First Constitution Became Effective</u>

In 1845 taxpayers could obtain county court review of tax assessments, and they could be exonerated from an assessment or be granted a refund pursuant to an 1828 statute. The 1828 revenue statute amended both ad valorem and excise tax provisions, and, for the first time, provided for review of an assessment or a refund of taxes. <u>See</u> Laws of Florida Territory, 7th Session (1828), p. 236.

Tax review was accomplished by the county courts without a jury. The county court performed the ministerial acts of hiring the assessor and collector, and certifying the tax rolls. The county court was also, by this statute, granted the authority

to hear tax cases and could exonerate a taxpayer from an assessment or require a refund from the tax collector.<sup>1</sup>

The Legislative Council created a right to a hearing on tax matters before the county courts, but provided no statutory authority for a jury to be impaneled. Importantly, the Territorial Legislative Council made specific provision for jury trials in its act for the protection of mortgagees, but, again, did not do so in tax suits.<sup>2</sup> The lack of a provision for a jury trial in tax matters was in keeping with the revenue acts of the adjacent states of Alabama and Georgia, and with the two states admitted to the union during the same period as was Florida -Iowa and Michigan. <u>Rush v. Department of Revenue of the State of Alabama</u>, 416 So. 2d 1023, 1024 (Ala. Civ. App. 1982), <u>Fowler v.</u> <u>Strickland</u>, 243 Ga. 30, 252 S.E.2d 459 (1979), <u>Davis v. City of</u> <u>Clinton</u>, 55 Iowa 549, 8 N.W. 423 (1881), <u>State v. Iron Cliffs</u> Co., 54 Mich. 350, 20 N.W. 493 (1884).

Empowered to hear tax controversies, the county courts of that time exercised inferior judicial functions and were akin to administrative boards, possessing authority corresponding to that exercised in other states by county commissioners. Cooley, <u>Treatise on the Law of Taxation</u> at 46, Second Edition (1886) (comparing the power to levy, a power also held by the county

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> An Act to Raise a Revenue for the Territory of Florida, Laws of Florida Territory, 7th Session (1828), p. 236. (Lodged with the Clerk as document number 2. Hereinafter, documents lodged with the Clerk will be cited as LC-#. Please see Petitioner's Notice of Filing which was filed concurrently with this Brief.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Act for the Protection of Mortgagees, Laws of Florida Territory, 20th Session (1842), p. 11.

courts); An Act to Establish County Courts, and Prescribe Their Jurisdiction, Laws of Florida Territory, 11th Session (1833), p. 42. Acting as an administrative body, the county courts could not use a jury to hear tax cases.

Further, the common law seizure procedures which permitted tort remedies were not used in Territorial Florida. In Florida seizures did not take place without notice, and taxpayers had the opportunity for review of their assessment prior to payment by an administrative body. <u>See</u> Laws of Florida Territory, 7th Session (1828), p. 236. This was a substantial departure from the tax practices of common law England, where seizure of goods without notice gave rise to early cases in tort and trespass against the tax collector. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Baks v.</u> <u>Hazeltine</u>, 1 Vt. 81 (1828).

The excise tax assessment dispute at issue in this case is identical in nature to the assessment dispute procedures known at Florida common law. This dispute is not similar in any way to the seizures of English common law that received tort remedies against the tax collector, which was the erroneous holding of the First District in following <u>United States v. New Mexico</u>, 642 F.2d 397 (10th Cir. 1981). It was in its failure to acknowledge the Florida common law that the First District Court was remiss in its analysis of taxpayer's rights to a jury trial.

Also at the time Florida's first Constitution became effective, tax cases heard outside the administrative forum were heard in circuit court in equity. This can be seen by reference to the 1837 Leon County Circuit Court case of <u>Apalachicola Land</u>

<u>Co. v. Robert Forbes, Sheriff</u>, Second Judicial Circuit (1837) (LC-1). <u>Apalachicola</u> involved an appeal from a county court decision upholding an assessment. The Circuit Court reviewed the record and found the assessment illegal. The Circuit Court interpreted the law under the 1828 statute and made its legal determination sitting in equity.

In summary, taxpayers in Florida in 1845 had tax protest rights and relief unknown at English common law. Florida taxpayers could request assessment relief or refunds from an administrative body with an "appeal" to the equity courts. The rights and relief were statutorily provided by the Territorial Legislative Council and the State Legislature. However, at the time Florida's first Constitution became effective, juries were not used either by equity courts or by the administrative boards that heard tax matters.

The taxes imposed and the rights and remedies available to aggrieved taxpayers were the same at the time Florida's first Constitution became effective as they are today. At both times, taxpayers could select either administrative remedies or equitable remedies in a court. No jury was available at Florida common law, nor is one available today. Thus, there is no constitutional right to a jury trial in tax cases as juries were not used at Florida common law in such matters.

#### C. TAX MATTERS ARE EQUITABLE IN NATURE

Florida Courts have held that tax actions sound in equity. Robbins v. Section 3 Property Corp., 609 So. 2d 670 (Fla. 3d DCA

1992); <u>Powell v. Kelly</u>, 223 So. 2d 305, 307 (Fla. 1969); <u>Day v.</u> <u>City of St. Augustine</u>, 104 Fla. 261, 139 So. 880, 883 (1932). In over one hundred and fifty years of Florida tax contests, Petitioner has been unable to find a single tax case where a jury was used. Florida's long practice of hearing tax matters administratively or in a court of equity follows the tradition laid down at common law. The First District Court was able to find a jury trial right only by ignoring Florida common law, a violation of the legal standards of analysis set by this Court in <u>In re Forfeiture 1978 Chevrolet Van</u>, 493 So. 2d 433 (Fla. 1986).

Since the time Florida was a Territory, tax matters have been heard in equity. <u>Apalachicola Land Co. v. Robert Forbes</u>, <u>Sheriff</u>, Second Judicial Circuit (1837); <u>Powell v. Kelly</u>, 223 So.2d 305, 307 (Fla. 1969); <u>Day v. City of St. Augustine</u>, 139 So. 880, 883 (Fla. 1932); <u>Department of Revenue v. University Square</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 336 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976). The right to a jury trial does not apply when the right or remedy is <u>equitable</u> in nature.<sup>3</sup> Prior to the merger of law and equity, equitable demands enforced in the courts of chancery were not triable by jury. <u>Hughes v. Hannah</u>, 39 Fla. 365, 22 So. 613, 615 (1897); Hathorne v. Panama Park Co., 44 Fla. 194, 32 So. 812 (1902);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This Court has found that tax cases sound in equity. <u>Powell v.</u> <u>Kelly</u>, 223 So. 2d 305, 307 (Fla. 1969); <u>Day v. City of St.</u> <u>Augustine</u>, 139 So. 880, 883 (Fla. 1932). Should the Court now determine that there is a constitutional right to a jury trial, it must perforce recede from these earlier opinions. The Court must also determine that Section 68.01, Florida Statute, is unconstitutional because it authorizes tax cases to be heard in Chancery.

Nelson v. State ex rel. Fisher, 84 Fla. 631, 94 So. 680 (1922); Pompano Horse Club v. State, 93 Fla. 415, 111 So. 801 (1927).

> 1. <u>The Distinction Of Law And Equity For</u> <u>Substantive Purposes Survives The Merger Of Law</u> And Equity For Procedural Purposes.

In 1967, when the revised Florida Rules of Civil Procedure consolidated law and chancery, the rule eliminating the distinctions between them for procedural purposes was not intended to abolish the substantive distinction. Adams v. Citizens Bank of Brevard, 248 So. 2d 682 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971). Therefore, the rule requiring that equitable claims be tried without a jury is not altered by the consolidation of law and chancery. Id. See also, King Mountain Condo. Assoc. v. Gundlach, 425 So. 2d 569 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); Emery v. International Glass & Mfg., Inc., 249 So. 2d 496 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1971). Even in "mixed" actions invoking both legal and equitable relief, it has been held that a jury trial can be had for compensatory trespass damages, but not for equitable claims. R.C. #17 Corp. v. Korenblit, 207 So. 2d 296 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1968); Padgett v. First Federal S & L Assoc., 378 So. 2d 58 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979).

Since 1967, Florida Courts have continued to observe and strictly enforce the pleading requirements for law and equity. <u>Acquafredda v. Messina</u>, 408 So. 2d 828 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); <u>State</u> <u>Farm Mutual Auto Ins. Co. v. Green</u>, 579 So. 2d 402 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). Thus, the rule of nonjury trials for equitable cases has not been lost or abolished merely by the merger of law and equity for procedural purposes. The distinction between law and equity

for <u>substantive</u> purposes remains intact.<sup>4</sup> Indeed, it can be reversible error for a trial court to submit "traditionally" equitable issues to a jury for determination. <u>Lincoln Tower</u> <u>Corp. v. Dunhall's-Florida</u>, 61 So. 2d 474 (Fla. 1952); <u>Cooley v.</u> <u>Cody</u>, 377 So. 2d 796 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979); <u>Allen v. Estate of</u> <u>Dutton</u>, 394 So. 2d 132 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); <u>Hall v. Brookville</u> <u>Glass</u>, 586 So. 2d 1306, 1308 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); and <u>Chabad</u> <u>House-Lubavitch of Palm Beach County</u>, Inc., v. Banks, 602 So. 2d 670, 672 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).

## 2. <u>Matters Heard In Equity At Common Law Receive No</u> <u>Constitutional Jury Trial Right</u>

Although the specific tax statutes and procedures of today did not exist in 1845, tax cases were known at Florida common law, but were heard in equity or administratively and did not receive a jury trial. The Florida Territorial statutes and early cases and statutes of the State of Florida demonstrate that the proceedings of like nature at common law (tax assessment protests and refund actions) have remained unchanged for 150 years. This analysis, based on the standards outlined by this Court in <u>In re Forfeiture 1978 Chevrolet Van</u>, 493 So. 2d 433 (Fla. 1986), shows conclusively that there is no right to a jury trial in tax matters.

So long as a party is granted a jury trial on issues properly triable by jury it may not complain that equitable issues were disposed of by the trial court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In federal courts, equitable claims are treated the same as in Florida Courts. In <u>Sheila's Shine Products, Inc., v. Sheila</u> <u>Shine, Inc.</u>, 486 F.2d 114 (5th Cir. 1973), the Court held at page 122:

This court should approve the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Robbins v. Section 3 Property Corp</u>, 609 So. 2d 670 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992). The First District Court declined to follow the Third District's ruling. The First District misapprehended the law when it found that the law regarding a taxpayer's right to a jury trial differs depending or whether ad valorem or excise taxes are challenged. The provisions of § 72.011 and § 194.171 give taxpayers identical rights to judicial review. The taxpayer's right to protest an assessment or refund denial under § 72.011 begins with a final assessment, just as § 194.171 begins with the roll being certified. In both situations the taxpayer must pay uncontested amounts, and must file an action within 60 days of finality of the assessment or the roll being certified.

The tax proceedings under these statutes are proceedings of like nature, do not allow for a jury trial, and neither type of tax received a jury trial at Florida common law. The litigation options available today to a taxpayer are markedly similar to those available in 1845, as a taxpayer could chose either an administrative remedy or an equitable challenge in court in tax cases.

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