IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

CASE NO. 81,602

Petitioner,

v.

[1st DCA Case No. 92-2725] [Circuit Court Case No. 92-409]

THE PRINTING HOUSE, INC.,

Fla. Bar No. 0393517

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LORENCE JON BIELBY
Greenberg, Traurig, Hoffman,
Lipoff, Rosen & Quentel, P.A.
111 S. Monroe St., Suite 2000
Tallahassee, FL 32301
(904) 222-6891
Counsel for Respondent

QUESTION PRESENTED

The First District Court of Appeal has certified, as a question of great public importance, the following question:

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

Section 68.01 provides:

68.01 <u>Declaring Tax Assessment Invalid</u> - When an assessment is made against any person, body politic or corporate <u>and payment is refused</u> on an allegation of illegality of the assessment, the person, body corporate or politic <u>may file</u> an action in chancery setting forth the alleged illegality. The court has jurisdiction to decide the matter and if the assessment is illegal, shall declare the assessment not lawfully made.

Instances where the statute may operate are the misnaming of the owner, misdescription of the land, duplicate listing of the same land, or an arithmetical mistake in carrying out the totals. Louisville and N.R. Company v. Board of Public Instruction for Jackson County, 39 So. 480 (Fla. 1905). The statute is clearly of limited application. Dade County v. Hardee, 47 So. 350 (Fla. 1908). The extent of the Court's authority is to declare the assessment unlawful. Jackson County v. Thornton, 33 So. 291 (Fla. 1902).

First and foremost, Section 68.01 was initially enacted in 1848, three years <u>after</u> Florida became a state and ten years after the Constitution of 1838. Any such legislative enactment would therefore have no effect upon the constitutionally preserved right to a jury trial.

Second, the statute clearly applies only if payment is refused—not if payment has been made. Comparatively, under Section 72.011, payment of the disputed tax is mandatory. Finally, Section 68.01 is not mandatory—the clear language states that a person, body corporate or politic may file an action in chancery. The statute makes no reference to a common law action.

Regarding the Robbins decision and Chapter 194

The Department compares Chapter 194, Florida Statutes, with Chapter 72, Florida Statutes, and suggests that tax proceedings under these two statutes are of like nature, do not allow for a jury trial, and that actions contesting property tax assessment [Chapter 194] and actions contesting the legality of certain tax assessments or denial of refund of taxes [Chapter 72] were considered together at Florida common law and denied a jury trial. The two statutes, however, are distinctively different.

As found by the District Court below:

Chapter 72, by its terms, applies to certain enumerated classes of taxes, fees, surcharges, permits, interests, and penalties, and does not encompass challenges to proposed property Judicial and administrative review of proposed property taxes, pursuant to notice Section 200.069, provided under exclusively (1991)is Statutes administrative or judicial review as set out 194, Florida Statutes. Chapter

Accordingly, we find that case law adjudicating the right to jury trial in a proceeding pursuant to Section 194.171, Florida Statutes (1991) or its predecessors, is not controlling as to the question now presented.

The Printing House v. Department of Revenue, 614 So.2d 1119, 1122 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). Chapter 72 was clearly intended by the Legislature not to encompass challenges to proposed property taxes.

The Department further states that the provisions of Section 72.011 and Section 194.171 provide taxpayers with identical rights to judicial review. This is not correct. Section 72.011 requires payment of the disputed tax as a prerequisite to bringing suit. Section 194.171 particularly does not require payment of the disputed amount, and therefore Section 194.171 would not place a taxpayer in a position of suing for a refund. Thus, the historical common law right to a jury trial after having paid the tax would not apply to a proceeding under Section 194.171.

Further, Section 194.171, or its predecessors, was first enacted in 1848, ten years <u>after</u> Florida's first Constitution of 1838. Thus, assuming that Chapter 194 was an attempt by the Florida Legislature to deny a jury trial in certain tax matters which had previously enjoyed the right to a jury trial at common law, such statutory intent is prevented by the constitutional guarantee of the right to a jury trial.

The 1828 Acts of the Legislative Council of the Territory of Florida, Section 22, does seem to imply that property taxes and excise taxes were both within the jurisdiction of county court. The 1828 Act, however, is silent as to a jury trial, and as

discussed above, county courts were afforded the use of juries. No territorial act nor specific pre-statehood decision removed or receded from the English common law right to a jury trial, and, more importantly, there are no territorial acts nor decisions which in any way suggest that a tax liability challenge for excise taxes is to be denied a jury trial.

The Department has failed to provide this Court with any act or decision which affirmatively denies or abrogates the common law right to a jury trial where an excise tax has been paid and liability for the tax is challenged. The Department argues that no territorial or state act grants a jury trial in such matters. Florida need not codify its constitutionally preserved common law right to a trial by jury in tax cases. Such right has been incorporated into our State Constitution and by Section 2.01, Florida Statutes, and is therefore preserved notwithstanding specific codification.

The underlying fundamental distinction is that if a tax is paid, and thereafter liability for the tax is challenged wherein the taxpayer seeks a refund, such taxpayer is entitled to a jury trial. Section 194.171, Florida Statutes, does not require such payment of tax and Section 72.011, Florida Statutes notably applies to excise taxes, not property taxes.

The Department urges this Court to uphold the Third District Court of Appeal decision in Robbins v. Section 3 Property Corp., 609 So.2d 670 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1992), the appeal of which is presently pending before this Court. The Robbins decision, however, involved

a challenge to the grant of an agricultural exemption to property, and did not involve a challenge to the payment of tax but rather involved a governmental challenge to an agricultural exemption, wherein the property owner is the defendant. Further, and more importantly, the taxpayer had not paid the tax and is not in a position of suing for a refund of the tax.

In reaching its finding, the <u>Robbins</u> court examined Section 194.171, and its predecessor section, and concluded that property tax disputes are equitable in nature, thereby allowing no right to a jury trial. The <u>Robbins</u> court, therefore, may not have deemed it necessary to analyze the historical precedent and origins for the right to jury trial in tax matters in Florida. Notwithstanding the clear distinction between Chapter 194 and Chapter 72, as outlined above, the sweeping statements by the <u>Robbins</u> court that "tax challenge cases implicate the equitable jurisdication of the courts," may, upon closer inspection, not provide sufficient clarification as to the limitations of the Court's decision.

II. A TAXPAYER CHALLENGING THE "LEGALITY" OF A FEDERAL TAX ASSESSMENT HAS A RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL IN FEDERAL COURT.

Although the Seventh Amendment to the United States Constitution guaranteeing right of trial by jury is binding only in federal courts, the construction of the Seventh Amendment¹⁰ closely

The Seventh Amendment of the United States Constitution provides:

In suits at common law, where the value in controversy shall exceed twenty dollars, the right of trial by jury shall be preserved, and no fact tried by a jury shall be otherwise reexamined in any court of the United States, than according to the rule of the common law.

parallels the right of trial by jury guaranteed in Art. I, Section 22, of the Florida Constitution. [Dudley v. Harrison McCready & Co., 173 So. 820 (Fla. 1937)], and clearly served as the basis for the right of trial by jury guaranteed by our Florida Constitution. Florida courts should look to federal decisions construing the right to jury trial under the United States Constitution. In re: Forfeiture of 1978 Chevrolet Van, 493 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1986). Hawkins v. Rellim Inv. Co., 110 So. 350 (Fla. 1926). As noted in Dudley, federal decisions construing the Seventh Amendment to the Constitution of the United States are frequently helpful and persuasive in construing state constitutional provisions of like import. Dudley v. Harrison McCready & Co., 173 So. 820 (Fla. 1937).

In <u>United States v. State of N.M.</u>, 642 F.2d 397 (10th Cir. 1981), sales tax on services had been paid to New Mexico by a United States subcontractor. The United States alleged that the tax was not authorized or required by New Mexico law. The Court concluded that the State of New Mexico has a Seventh Amendment right to a jury trial. Although based on the Seventh Amendment, the Tenth Circuit finds a common law recognition of the right of a taxpayer to a jury trial in refund cases, and particularly distinguishes many precedents that are relied upon by the Department in its Initial Brief. In fact, the <u>U.S.</u> Court states that:

"The English case law demonstrates that the common law right to a jury trial pre-dates the Seventh Amendment and any Federal statutes. We are persuaded that the right of a taxpayer to a jury in refund cases is rooted in the common law and was preserved by the Seventh Amendment."

United States v. State of N.M., 642 F.2d at 401.

Since 1954, the modern right to a jury trial has been codified in a federal tax refund suit. 28 USC §2402 (1970). The relevant congressional hearings and reports traced the right to a jury trial to the common law precedents discussed in Elliott v. Swartwout, 35 U.S. (10 Pet.) 137 (1836) and made clear that the 1954 statute was a reaffirmation of common law liability of the tax collector recognized by the Supreme Court in 1836. Kirst at 1336 - 1337. The drafters of the Seventh Amendment were seeking to protect the fundamental rights present in the common law system. Kirst at 1334.

It is important to note that the Seventh Amendment would still guarantee a jury trial in such actions even if the United States Code did not. In statutorily allowing a jury trial in a tax refund suit, and by providing an administrative forum where the taxpayer challenges the amount of tax but has not paid it, the federal system carries forward English common law. Florida's bifurcated system under Section 72.011, Florida Statutes (as discussed below), is nearly identical to the federal bifurcated system, and therefore an action in Circuit Court for a "refund" logically and historically affords either litigant the right to a jury trial.

As noted by the First District Court below, the Florida Legislature authorized an administrative procedure for contesting tax assessments by enacting Section 72.011, Florida Statutes, in 1981, but explicitly excepted from this administrative procedure "actions for refund of taxes previously paid." Florida Export Tobacco Company, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 510 So.2d 936, 954

(Fla. 1st DCA 1987), rev. denied, 519 So.2d 986 (Fla. 1987). The First District Court of Appeal analogized Section 72.011 to federal procedure available under the Internal Revenue Code. The Florida Export Tobacco court observed that:

Moreover, this statutory scheme substantially parallels the federal practice and procedure regarding income taxes under the Internal Revenue Code. See, 1 Fla. State and Local Taxes, ¶10.04[1] (Fla. Bar 1984). Notably, the federal procedure requires that refund actions be filed in federal district courts (where a jury trial may be obtained) or in the Court of Claims.

Florida Export Tobacco Company, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 510 So.2d 936, 954-955 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) (emphasis supplied, footnotes omitted). Clearly Judge Zehmer (by citing Florida State and Local Taxes, Vol. 1), concludes that Florida's statutory scheme affords a jury trial to a taxpayer challenging the "legality" of an assessment in circuit court. Additionally, and more importantly, the First District in its decision below placed emphasis upon the Florida Bar publication, Florida State and Local Taxes, and in particular the passage therein which provides:

"...at any rate, the notion has long prevailed that all tax cases are in equity and therefore are to be tried by a judge without a jury. That seems clearly erroneous in the ad valorem area, and there is nothing to support that view in Section 72.011, Florida Statutes."

The Printing House, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 614 So.2d 1119, 1124 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) [citing Florida State and Local Taxes, Vol. I, ¶10.04(5)(b)] (Fla. Bar 1984).

In its Initial Brief, the Department of Revenue incorrectly and misleadingly states that the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals

stands alone amongst federal circuits in finding that (a) there is a common law right to a trial by jury in federal tax cases, and (b) that if such right to a trial by jury exists in federal tax practice, it exists only where a statute has granted that right.

First and foremost, each of the federal decisions cited by the Department which purportedly find there to be no common law right to a trial by jury are cases against the Commissioner of the Internal Revenue [C.I.R.], and are therefore cases before the federal tax court, a specialized court where a litigant has not paid the tax. Each of the decisions makes specific reference to 28 USC Section 2402 and 1346(a)(1), and each of such decisions are identical in that a taxpayer who "elects to bring suit in tax court" to contest a deficiency, is not entitled to a jury trial. Parker v. C.I.R., 724 F.2d 469, 472 (5th Circuit 1984). These same cases, as stated in the Parker decision, provide that a taxpayer that pays the tax and thereafter sues for a refund in the District Court is entitled to a trial by jury. Parker v. C.I.R., 724 F.2d 469 (5th Circuit 1984).

Second, the Tenth Circuit and the Second Circuit have each found the Seventh Amendment to be based upon a common law right to a jury trial, carried forward by the Seventh Amendment. <u>United States v. Anderson</u>, 584 F.2d 369 (10th Cir. 1978) [holding that an action to collect taxes was an action for debt at common law, and a taxpayer's right to a jury trial was preserved by the Seventh Amendment]; <u>Damsky v. Zavatt</u>, 289 F.2d 46 (2nd Cir. 1961) [in actions regarding taxes at common law there was a right to a jury

trial, carried forward by the Seventh Amendment].

Two separate circuits, therefore, have independently found there to be a common law right to a jury trial; such a common law right can hardly be disputed by the Department. The federal statute is based upon the Seventh Amendment, which in turn is clearly based upon the English and Colonial right to jury trial.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT AN ACTION UNDER SECTION 72.011 IS AN ACTION FOR A TAX REFUND.

As outlined above, English tax history prior to 1776, 11 provided that the right to a jury trial in a tax matter arose after collection of the tax from the taxpayer, in an action challenging liability for the tax.

The historical evolution of Section 72.011, Florida Statutes suggests that it is now the statutory method by which a taxpayer may contest in the Circuit Court the legality of any assessment or denial of refund of tax, such as the assessment by the Department herein. Section 72.011(3)(b)(1) and (2), Florida Statutes, contain a mandatory prerequisite for the taxpayer in an assessment case to pay to the applicable Department all uncontested tax, and pay into the registry of the court the entire contested amount including penalties and interest, unless such requirement is waived

¹¹ Carried forward into Florida territorial law, and into Section 2.01, Florida Statutes.

¹² Section 72.011 was amended in 1991 to provide that a taxpayer may contest the legality of a denial of a tax refund in the same manner as a tax assessment; the new provision applies to refund denials issued on or after July 1, 1991. [This tax challenge falls under the new amendment]. Chapter 91-112, Section 2 and 4.

by the Department, or file a bond for such amount unless the bond is waived. This statutory language clearly follows the common law approach of allowing a taxpayer to challenge the liability for an assessment after collection. In that under Section 72.011(3) the taxpayer <u>must</u> pay the amount of such tax, obtain a waiver of such payment, or file a bond, the taxpayer is placed in the position of suing for a refund of such assessment. Such a procedure in the common law courts involved a jury trial. <u>Kirst</u> at 1317, and citations therein.

The Department concedes that under English common law there was a right to a jury trial <u>after</u> the tax was collected, in that a taxpayer was then suing for a refund. The Department, however, takes the position that the District Court of Appeal was incorrect in finding a Section 72.011 tax liability challenge to be "in the posture of a refund."

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